RECEIVED

Dec 13 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-_____
Court of Appeals Case No. 2022-001587

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Does the decision of the Court of Appeals conflict with decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court recognizing the contractual nature of arbitration, where the Court of Appeals erroneously relied on a boilerplate arbitration notice, not the terms of the parties' contract, to find that the parties opted for the application of state arbitration law to the exclusion of the Federal Arbitration Act?
2. Does a transaction for South Carolina resort property involve interstate commerce, such that federal arbitration law applies, where the parties' dispute is focused on the ability of renters to access club facilities, and Plaintiffs market their homes as short-term rentals throughout the United States, and many of the Plaintiffs are not permanent South Carolina residents?
3. Where the parties have agreed to delegate unconscionability to the arbitrator in a transaction involving interstate commerce, did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to recognize that application of any South Carolina rule prohibiting delegation of unconscionability is preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the arbitration agreements unconscionable when it is undisputed that (a) sophisticated, high-worth purchasers of vacation property in one of the many luxury developments in the Lowcountry do not face an absence of meaningful choice that could render agreements related to the purchase unconscionable; (b) a unilateral modification provision is not unconscionable *per se*; and (c) under settled principles of South Carolina law, a purportedly unconscionable remedial limitation in an arbitration agreement should be severed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Respondents (“Plaintiffs”) are a small group of property owners in the Palmetto Bluff luxury residential/resort community.¹ (App. 292-296.) They include individuals, closely held family LLCs, and a family trust. (*Id.*) One set of related plaintiffs owns four Palmetto Bluff properties. (App. 293-294.) Publicly available information confirms that these are persons of wealth and business sophistication, including a senior vice-president of an investment management company, the former CEO of a 500-person engineering and architectural firm, and a principal of a Myrtle Beach auto dealership which itself requires arbitration of disputes with its customers.² (App. 778-937.) Many Plaintiffs are out-of-state purchasers who bought their properties for commercial investment and/or who have transferred title to their limited liability companies or other closely held entities.

It is undisputed that Plaintiffs had an abundance of choice in deciding whether to purchase homes in Palmetto Bluff. Plaintiffs do not contend that vacation homes, second homes, or luxury homes are necessities, and Palmetto Bluff is far from the only developer of luxury homes in the Lowcountry and other desirable coastal areas.

As a planned community, Palmetto Bluff is subject to covenants, restrictions, and governing documents. (App. 303.) These include the Community Charter, which is recorded in the Office of the Beaufort County Register of Deeds and which provides, among other things, for the establishment of the Palmetto Bluff Club. (App. 303; 724.) The Charter states: “By acceptance of a deed, each Owner shall automatically become a member of the Palmetto Bluff Club and shall

¹ Petitioners (“Palmetto Bluff”) are entities or individuals involved in the development and operation of Palmetto Bluff and its facilities and amenities.

² The dealership’s arbitration clause was held unconscionable in *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2 663 (2007).

automatically assume and agree to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of the Palmetto Bluff Club Documents, which terms and conditions are incorporated herein by reference.” (App. 420.)

Upon becoming a member of the Palmetto Bluff Club, the owner executes a Palmetto Bluff Club Membership Agreement (“Membership Agreement”). (App. 475, 726.) The Membership Agreement contains an arbitration agreement. Additionally, the Club operates pursuant to the Membership Plan, which also contains an arbitration agreement. The core text of both arbitration agreements is identical, and provides:

[A]ny and all controversies, disputes or claims relating directly or indirectly to, or arising directly or indirectly from this Membership Agreement [or “Membership Plan”], including, but not limited to, the breach or alleged breach of this Membership Agreement [or “Membership Plan”], shall be resolved by mandatory arbitration **in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (the “Rules”) then in effect . . . applying the substantive laws of South Carolina.**

(App. 578; 730 (emphasis added).) Each Membership Agreement also states that each member acknowledges receipt of the Membership Plan and agrees to be bound by all of its respective terms and conditions, as they may be amended from time to time. (App. 577.)

Plaintiffs’ properties are all located in the designated area for short-term rentals, and many Plaintiffs market their properties nationwide as short-term rentals through websites like VRBO.com, Airbnb.com, hometogo.com, and palmettobluffluxuryrental.com, among others. This dispute arises out of Plaintiffs’ allegation that actions taken or contemplated under the Membership Plan were “intended . . . to suppress” their ability to market their properties for short-term rentals by restricting renters’ access to Club amenities. Plaintiffs’ dissatisfaction with this lack of short-term renter access drives the multiple claims asserted in their complaint. Plaintiffs’ claims thus arise directly from the documents containing the arbitration agreements that Plaintiffs are seeking to avoid.

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Circuit Court Proceedings

Plaintiffs sued Palmetto Bluff in April 2022, asserting multiple claims. (App. 274-356 (Complaint).) Two days later, Plaintiffs filed an arbitration demand with the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”), attaching the circuit court complaint. (App. 556-564.) Palmetto Bluff filed an answer and counter-demand, and subsequently asserted a counterclaim, seeking resolution of the same issues raised in Plaintiffs’ arbitration demand. (App. 565-572.)

Plaintiffs subsequently filed a Motion to Stay Arbitration and a Motion for Summary Proceedings on the Invalidity of the Purported Arbitration Clause. (App. 549-552.) For its part, Palmetto Bluff moved to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8), SCRCPP, or alternatively to compel arbitration and stay the circuit court action. (App. 553-555.) The circuit court conducted a hearing on these and other motions on July 20, 2022.

In September 2022, the circuit court entered an Order granting Plaintiffs’ motion to stay arbitration and denying Palmetto Bluff’s motions to dismiss and to compel arbitration. (App. 203-235.) On the arbitration issues, the circuit court held that (1) the South Carolina Arbitration Act (“SCUAA”), S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10, *et seq.*, applied, rather than the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.*; (2) no arbitration agreement exists as to 15 Plaintiffs or 11 Defendants; (3) the non-signatory Plaintiffs are not bound by the arbitration agreements; (4) the arbitration agreements are invalid, unlawful, and unenforceable; and (5) Plaintiffs’ claims did not “relat[e] directly or indirectly to, or aris[e] directly or indirectly from [the Palmetto Bluff Club] Membership Plan,” and thus were outside the scope of the arbitration agreements. (App. 230-232.) Thereafter, the court denied Palmetto Bluff’s motion to alter or amend, entering an Amended Order that was identical to its previous order except for the date and title. (App. 236-268; App. 269-271.)

Palmetto Bluff timely appealed.

B. Court of Appeals – Initial Opinion

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the circuit court on July 24, 2024. (App. 1-12.) In summary, the Court of Appeals ruled as follows:

- Based on questions raised for the first time during oral argument, the Court of Appeals held that the Membership Agreement's reference to "the substantive laws of South Carolina" required application of the SCUAA rather than the FAA. (App. 5.)
- Despite recognizing that "parties can delegate questions of arbitrability," including "whether an arbitration agreement is valid," the Court of Appeals ruled that arbitrability was properly decided by the circuit court, rather than by the arbitrator, because disputes about *contract formation* (such as unconscionability) are reserved for the courts." (App. 5-6 (emphasis in original).)
- The arbitration agreements are unconscionable and unenforceable because (1) the Club documents are contracts of adhesion, and thus there was "an absence of meaningful choice on the Plaintiffs' part," and (2) the terms of the contracts are oppressive and one-sided in that they give Palmetto Bluff the unilateral right to amend the contracts and preclude an award of treble damages in any action under the contracts. (App. 8.)

C. Court of Appeals – Opinion on Denial of Rehearing

Palmetto Bluff timely filed a petition for rehearing on September 20, 2024. (App. 13-29.) On November 13, 2024, the Court of Appeals denied rehearing and issued a substitute opinion, in which it attempted to address the errors identified in the petition for rehearing. (App. 32-33; App. 34-45.)

As to whether the parties' dispute is governed by state or federal arbitration law, the Court of Appeals abandoned the reasoning in its first opinion, instead concluding that the SCUAA controlled because the arbitration notice on the front page of the Membership Agreement states, "This membership agreement is subject to arbitration pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 15-48-10, *et. seq.*" (App. 38.)

With respect to delegation of the question of arbitrability, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that its ruling was contrary to the Supreme Court's decision in *Rent-A-Center, West*,

Inc. v. Jackson, 561 U.S. 63 (2010). The Court of Appeals ruled, however, that under the supremacy clause of the South Carolina Constitution, it was bound to follow this Court's decision in *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2 663 (2007), even though *Simpson* was decided three years *before Rent-A-Center*.

ARGUMENT

Certiorari is appropriate here because (1) the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with decisions of this Court, including *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 542 S.E.2d 360 (2001), and *Soil Remediation Co. v. Nu-Way Envtl., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 454, 476 S.E.2d 149 (1996); and (2) this matter involves a federal question (the applicability and effect of the Federal Arbitration Act) and the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with decisions of the United States Supreme Court, including *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265 (1995), and *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63 (2010). See Rule 242(b)(3), (5), SCACR. Additionally, certiorari is warranted by the importance of the issues at stake. Regrettably, both the original and substituted Court of Appeals opinions demonstrate the kind of hostility to arbitration that the FAA was meant to overcome and that South Carolina courts have long since abandoned. See, e.g., *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 608, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020) (recognizing that the purpose of the FAA was to “revers[e] the judicial hostility against arbitration”); *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 540-41, 542 S.E.2d at 364 (recognizing “liberal policy favoring arbitration”).

I. The Arbitration Notice Cannot Override the Parties’ Agreement to Arbitrate Under Federal Law

In the circuit court and in the parties’ appellate briefs, the question whether the arbitration agreements are governed by the FAA or the SCUAA turned on whether this case involves a transaction occurring in interstate commerce. In its initial opinion and its substituted opinion on denial of rehearing, the Court of Appeals avoided this basic question by twice adopting theories for application of the SCUAA that were never raised by Plaintiffs and which, more importantly, conflict with decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court.

The Court of Appeals initially held that the arbitration agreements’ reference to “the substantive law of South Carolina” mandated application of the SCUAA. However, the Court of

Appeals abandoned this theory after Palmetto Bluff’s Petition for Rehearing explained that it is flatly contrary to *Mastrobuono v. Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 52 (1993), and *Osteen v. T.E. Cuttino Const. Co.*, 315 S.C. 422, 434 S.E.2d 281 (1993). (App. 16-20.) In its substituted opinion on denial of rehearing, the Court of Appeals adopted a another theory never asserted by Plaintiffs: that a reference to the SCUAA in the boilerplate arbitration notice on the first page of the Membership Agreement demonstrates with “no ambiguity” that the parties chose to arbitrate according to state law rather than federal law. (App. 38.) However, the Court of Appeals did not address the obvious conflict between the notice and the arbitration agreements themselves, which do not choose state arbitration law, and therefore are subject to the FAA.

The Court of Appeals’ reliance on the arbitration notice conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the United States Supreme Court. First, this Court has long recognized that “[u]nless the parties have contracted to the contrary, the FAA applies in Federal or State Court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363 (citing *Allied–Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265 (1995), and *Soil Remediation Co. v. Nu–Way Envtl., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 454, 476 S.E.2d 149 (1996)). “Parties are free to enter into a contract providing for arbitration under rules established by state law rather than rules established by the FAA,” but such an intention must be clearly expressed in the contractual language. *Id.* at 538 n.2, 542 S.E.2d at 353 n.2; see *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 337, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019) (arbitration is a matter of contract).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals’ substituted opinion, a boilerplate arbitration notice on the front page of a document is not “a contract providing for arbitration under [state] rules.” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538 n.2, 542 S.E.2d at 353 n.2, because it is not a contract at all. The only function of

an arbitration notice is to signal that an arbitration agreement is contained within the document on which the notice appears. “A valid and enforceable contract requires a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement.” *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 578, 762 S.E.2d 696, 701 (2014). An arbitration notice comes nowhere close to demonstrating that there has been a meeting of the minds with respect to arbitration.

Even assuming—contrary to logic and South Carolina contract law—that citing the SCUAA in a boilerplate arbitration notice has some evidentiary value in determining whether the parties have agreed to opt out of the application of the FAA, it cannot change the actual terms of the arbitration agreement. Here, the arbitration agreements provide that arbitration shall occur “in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (the “Rules”) ... applying the substantive laws of South Carolina.” (App. 578.) As Palmetto Bluff explained at length in its Petition for Rehearing, incorporation of state *substantive* law does not demonstrate that the parties agreed to apply state *arbitration* law. (App. 16-20 (analyzing *Mastrobuono* and *Osteen*.) Similarly, an arbitration agreement’s incorporation of AAA arbitration rules does not clearly show that the parties intended to arbitrate under state arbitration law. *See, e.g., Metzler Contracting Co. LLC v. Stephens*, 774 F. Supp. 2d 1073, 1077 (D. Haw. 2011) (agreement to arbitrate under AAA rules “do[es] not evince a clear intent to choose state over federal arbitration rules”). *At worst*, the arbitration notice’s reference to the SCUAA might be said to create an ambiguity when viewed in conjunction with the actual terms of the arbitration agreements. Under both state and federal law, however, mere ambiguity is not sufficient to show that the parties clearly intended to arbitrate under state arbitration law. *See Volt Info. Sci., Inc. v. Board of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 476 (1989); *see also Lamps*

Plus, Inc. v. Varela, 587 U.S. 176, 189 (2019) (recognizing that “the FAA provides the default rule for resolving certain ambiguities in arbitration agreements”).

Even if the reference to the SCUAA in the arbitration notice could be viewed as a contractual agreement to adopt state arbitration law, it would not change the outcome here because state-law rules that conflict with parties’ rights under the FAA—and “would undermine the goals and policies of the FAA”—are nonetheless preempted. *Volt*, 489 U.S. at 477-78. In particular, the South Carolina rule that parties cannot delegate the determination of unconscionability to the arbitrator squarely conflicts with “the goals and policies of the FAA” as identified by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Rent-A-Center West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 43 (2010), and *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63 (2019). The FAA limits efforts to use state law, including state contract interpretation, to curtail the powers of arbitrators under the language of the arbitration agreement, *see Mastrobuono v. Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 52, 59-64 (1993), or otherwise to materially alter the terms of arbitration, *see DIRECTV v. Imburgia*, 577 U.S. 47, 54-58 (2015); *see also Lamps Plus*, 587 U.S. at 183-189.

Arbitration is a matter of contract, and courts are bound to honor the terms to which the parties have agreed. *See Volt*, 489 U.S. at 474-75. Certiorari is warranted here because the Court of Appeals’ holding undermines this fundamental principle by ignoring the arbitration agreements and relying instead on the boilerplate arbitration notice, which is not part of the parties’ contract. There are doubtless hundreds if not thousands of contracts containing an arbitration notice that, like the notice on the Membership Agreement here, cite the SCUAA. The substituted opinion of the Court of Appeals, if it is allowed to stand, would allow courts to disregard the terms of arbitration agreements in favor of a statement that is only intended to alert parties to the existence of an arbitration agreement located elsewhere in the document. Such an outcome is antithetical to

contract law generally and to arbitration law specifically. This Court should grant certiorari to correct the serious error of the Court of Appeals.

II. The Contracts Involve Interstate Commerce

In light of its erroneous holding regarding the arbitration notice, the Court of Appeals did not reach the question of whether the contracts involved interstate commerce. This Court should grant certiorari to resolve this important question.

“[T]he FAA applies in Federal or State Court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363. Moreover, “involving commerce” is broadly construed because it covers more than “only persons or activities within the flow of interstate commerce”; rather, “the word ‘involving,’ like ‘affecting,’ signals an intent to exercise Congress’ commerce power to the full.” *Allied-Bruce Terminix*, 513 U.S. at 273-77. Indeed, “the smallest connection of an arbitration agreement with interstate commerce is sufficient to bring the agreement within the FAA.” *Med Ctr. Cars, Inc. v. Smith*, 727 So. 2d 9, 13 (Ala. 1998).

The Circuit Court held the FAA does not apply to the arbitration agreements because “[t]he development of real property does not involve interstate commerce.” (App. 208 (citing *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 730 S.E.2d 312 (2012))). But the development of real estate is not the fulcrum of this case, which turns on Plaintiffs’ claims that various Palmetto Bluff governing documents are being used to restrict access to Palmetto Bluff Club amenities by short-term renters. (App. 495.) The renters include persons from outside South Carolina, as Plaintiffs market their properties to renters nationwide on numerous vacation-rental websites. (App. 725.) Plaintiffs complain, not about their real estate purchases, but about how the Club’s operation hurts their rental businesses. The eight out-of-state Plaintiffs (App. 728-729) show that the Club serves

out-of-state customers, and thus its operation involves interstate commerce.

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