IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-002098  
Court of Appeals Case No. 2022-001587  
Supreme Court Case No. 2024-002098

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 13 2025**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

315 Corley CW LLC; 368 Mount Pelia LLC; Bridge  
Charleston Investments B LLC; Bridge Charleston  
Investments C LLC; Bridge Charleston Investments E  
LLC; Bridge Charleston Investments H LLC; Anne  
Bosler and Dylan Hart as Trustees of the Bosler-Hart  
Trust; Geoffrey J. Block; R. Jeffrey Kimball and Deborah

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

## B. Oppressive and One-Sided Terms

On the second prong of the unconscionability analysis, the Court of Appeals did an in-depth analysis of the legal factors as applied to the contract at issue. It correctly concluded that the provision met the standard for unconscionability, including because (a) it purports to allow one party, and only one party—the Developer—unilaterally change the contract at will, and (b) it violates this Court’s ruling in *Simpson* regarding prohibition of damages. As discussed below, there are numerous other independent sustaining grounds, including under this Court’s recent ruling in *Huskins v. Mungo Homes, LLC* (Op. 28245, App. Case 2023-000452, Dec. 11, 2024).

On the first point (unilateral change), Petitioners do not dispute that they drafted this provision so that only the Developer can modify the terms, at will and without consent. Instead, Petitioners cite to a UCLA Law Review article from 2010 that, they say, means this is okay. However, the Court of Appeals’ conclusion is entirely consistent with established South Carolina law, such as *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 512, 757 S.E.2d 394 (2014) (noting that once a contractual bargain is formed, and the obligations are set, that the contract can only be altered by mutual agreement and for further consideration), citing 17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 507 (“[O]ne party to a contract may not unilaterally alter its terms.”), and *Sauner v. Public Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 405, 581 S.E.2d 161 (2003) (“We cannot find anything in *Fleming* or elsewhere that allows a party to alter the terms of a bilateral contract by unilateral modification. It is well established that ‘[a] written contract may be modified by a subsequent agreement of the parties, provided the subsequent agreement contains all the requisites of a valid contract,’” quoting *Florence*

*City-County Airport Comm'n v. Air Terminal Parking Co.*, 283 S.C. 337, 341, 322 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1984)).

When the Petition turns to East Coast law, it cites to a hodgepodge of cases that do not apply to the situation here. The first is *Hill v. Peoplesoft USA, Inc.*, 412 F.3d 540, 543–44 (4th Cir. 2005). The South Carolina Court of Appeals also cited *Peoplesoft* in its Opinion, noting it to be under Maryland law involving an arbitration agreement under different circumstances. In *Peoplesoft*, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals cited to a specific Maryland case (*Cheek v. United Healthcare of Mid-Atlantic, Inc.*, 378 Md. 139, 835 A.2d 656 (2003)) to conclude that the United States District Court in Maryland should not have looked to a separate document, a general employee policy, for certain terms, which were not supported by consideration. The differences between *Peoplesoft* and this case are legion: different facts (for example, the Maryland arbitration agreement was actually signed by all of the parties in that case and could not be unilaterally changed; the disputed term was in a separate document that was a “company policy generally applicable to all employees” called the IDS Program); different law (Maryland law and referencing the FAA); different reasoning (the case hinged on whether there was consideration for the separate document, the IDS Program company policy). The Court of Appeals properly differentiated *Peoplesoft* from this matter and noted that “the documents in which the arbitration agreement is located are subject in their entirety to the Defendants’ unilateral ability to make changes. Therefore, it is part of the arbitration agreement.” (Op. p. 9).

The other cases cited by the Petition are even more distant, analytically. *Canteen v. Charlotte Metro Credit Union*, 386 N.C. 18, 23, 900 S.E.2d 890 (2024), involved an

amendment to a consumer contract by a bank that provided the bank customer with both advance notice *and* 30 days to opt out of the amendment. Under those specific facts, that court held that the covenant of good faith and fair dealing was not violated. The opinion recognizes a large body of case law rejecting unilateral amendments to contracts.<sup>10</sup> Also

---

<sup>10</sup> See *Canteen*, 386 N.C. 18, 900 S.E. 890 (Riggs, J., dissenting and citing: “*Hooters of Am., Inc. v. Phillips*, 173 F.3d 933, 938–39 (4th Cir. 1999) (affirming a trial court’s determination that an arbitration agreement supplemental to an employment contract was illusory partly because the employer could unilaterally change or eliminate arbitration); *Coady v. Nationwide Motor Sales Corp.*, 32 F.4th 288, 292–93 (4th Cir. 2022) (holding an arbitration provision subject to a unilateral modification clause allowing one party to ‘change, abolish, or modify existing policies, procedures or benefits . . . as it may deem necessary with or without notice’ was illusory); *Morrison v. Amway Corp.*, 517 F.3d 248, 257 (5th Cir. 2008) (holding an arbitration amendment inserted into multi-level marketing distribution agreements were illusory because ‘nothing . . . precludes amendment to the arbitration program—made under Amway’s unilateral authority to amend its Rules of Conduct—from eliminating the entire arbitration program or its applicability to certain claims or disputes’); *Torres v. S.G.E. Mgmt., L.L.C.*, 397 F. App’x 63, 68 (5th Cir. 2010) (holding arbitration promise in a multi-level marketing contract was illusory when the promisor ‘essentially could renege on its promise to arbitrate by merely posting an amendment to the agreement on its website’); *Carey v. 24 Hour Fitness, USA, Inc.*, 669 F.3d 202, 206 (5th Cir. 2012) (holding an employment contract’s arbitration clause was illusory under Texas law where another provision of the contract allowed the employer to unilaterally modify all provisions of the agreement and did not contain a savings clause); *Floss v. Ryan’s Fam. Steak Houses, Inc.*, 211 F.3d 306, 315–16 (6th Cir. 2000) (holding an arbitration agreement illusory because it allowed one party ‘to alter the applicable rules and procedures without any obligation to notify, much less receive consent from [the other party]’); *Penn v. Ryan’s Fam. Steak Houses, Inc.*, 269 F.3d 753, 759–60 (7th Cir. 2001) (holding an arbitration agreement was illusory when it gave one party ‘the sole, unilateral discretion to modify or amend’ the arbitration provisions); *Dumais v. Am. Golf. Corp.*, 299 F.3d 1216, 1219 (10th Cir. 2002) (‘We join other circuits in holding that an arbitration agreement allowing one party the unfettered right to alter the arbitration agreement’s existence or its scope is illusory.’ (citations omitted)); *Canales v. Univ. of Phoenix, Inc.*, 854 F. Supp. 2d 119, 126 (D. Me. 2012) (‘[B]ecause Phoenix retained the unfettered right to amend the terms of the arbitration agreement with its employees, the arbitration agreement was illusory and unenforceable.’); *In re Zappos.com, Inc. Customer Data Sec. Breach Litigation*, 893 F. Supp. 2d 1058, 1066 (D. Nev. 2012) (‘In effect, the agreement allows Zappos to hold its customers and users to the promise to arbitrate while reserving its own escape hatch. . . . Because the Terms of Use binds consumers to arbitration while leaving Zappos free to litigate or arbitrate wherever it sees fit, there exists no mutuality of obligation.’); *Cheek v. United Healthcare of the Mid-Atl., Inc.*, 835 A.2d 656, 662 (Md. Ct. App. 2003) (‘[T]he fact that United HealthCare reserves the right to alter, amend, modify, or revoke the Arbitration Policy at its sole and absolute discretion at any time with or without notice creates no real promise and, therefore, insufficient consideration to support an enforceable agreement to arbitrate.’ (cleaned up)); *Baker v. Bristol Care, Inc.*, 450 S.W.3d 770, 776–77 (Mo. 2014) (en banc) (holding arbitration agreement was illusory notwithstanding a thirty-day notice provision where one party ‘retain[ed] unilateral authority to amend the agreement retroactively’); *Peleg v. Neiman Marcus Grp.*, 140 Cal. Rptr. 3d 38, 58 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012) (holding a retroactive arbitration amendment pursuant to an unlimited unilateral amendment clause in the underlying contract was illusory because ‘one party can avoid its promise to arbitrate by amending the provision or terminating it altogether’ (cleaned up)); *Pruett v. WESTconsin Credit Union*, 998 N.W.2d 529, 544–45 (Wis. Ct. App. 2023) (holding, based in part on the discussion of illusoriness by the Court of Appeals’ dissent in this case, that a credit union could not unilaterally add an arbitration clause to its services agreement notwithstanding the fact that the original agreement required ‘any legal action . . . be

cited by Petitioners, *Tompkins v. 23andMe, Inc.*, 840 F.3d 1016, 1032 (9th Cir. 2016), involved an internet direct-to-consumer genetic testing service under California law and recognizes that “we have held that a unilateral modification provision itself may be unconscionable” but “we do not reach this claim here.” *Coady v. Nationwide Motor Sales Corp.*, 32 F.4th 288, 292–93 (4th Cir. 2022), is another case under Maryland law that the South Carolina Court of Appeals referenced in its Opinion, and it concludes that the arbitration clause was not enforceable because (*inter alia*) the employer retained the right to amend or abolish the agreement without notice to the employee.

On the second point (unlawful limitation of remedies), the Court of Appeals was entirely correct that the Club Documents violate this Court’s rule in *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 28–29; 644 S.E.2d at 670. (Op. p. 10). The Petition does not dispute this – and the Petition should be denied for that reason alone. Instead, the Petition tries to dodge the issue by claiming that an arbitrator should have made this decision, not the circuit court. The Opinion correctly noted that Developer’s cited cases were inapposite because the “contract in the instant case specifically prohibits the award of treble damages, regardless of whether they are construed as compensatory or punitive” and therefore there is no uncertainty for an arbitrator to address. (Op. pp. 10–11).

In addition to these points, there are independent grounds for sustaining the circuit court and Court of Appeals’ rulings, including that (a) the arbitration clause contains an unlawful 60-day statute of limitations in violation of S.C. Code § 15-3-140, as

---

brought in the county in which the credit union is located’); *cf. Donelson v. Ameriprise Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 999 F.3d 1080, 1091 (8th Cir. 2021) (holding an arbitration provision was not illusory where any modification required separate ‘acknowledgment and agreement’ of that modification through an unconditioned duty to notice the change and the customer’s continued use following said notice).”

this Court recently held in *Huskins v. Mungo Homes, LLC* (Op. 28245, App. Case 2023-000452, Dec. 11, 2024)<sup>11</sup>; (b) the Developer contends that the arbitration provision does not apply to the Developer, and freely files cases in courts rather than taking its disputes to arbitration; and (c) the arbitration clause unlawfully purports to divest Homeowners of their statutory right to have a court determine legal rights under South Carolina’s Declaratory Judgment Act, S.C. Code § 15-30-10 *et seq.* (See App. 134–147 (discussing additional grounds for determining unconscionability)).

As a parting point, the Petition argues that Developer’s unlawful terms should have been severed. Importantly, neither the Membership Plan nor the membership agreements—both of which Developer drafted—contain a severability provision. A court would have to *blue-pencil* a severability provision *into* the agreement, in order to *blue-pencil out* unconscionable terms. This Court meticulously explained its reasoning when it declined to sever unconscionable provisions in the *Damico* case:

We further decline to sever the unconscionable terms from the remainder of the arbitration provisions for two reasons. First, doing so would require us to blue-pencil the agreement regarding a material term of the contract, a result strongly disfavored in contract disputes. Second, as a matter of policy, we find severing terms from an unconscionable contract of adhesion (in this case, an arbitration provision) discourages fair, arms-length transactions.

...

Given the pervasive presence of oppressive terms in the arbitration provision, we find the severability clause here, in an unconscionable, adhesive home construction contract, is unenforceable as a matter of public policy. We are specifically concerned that honoring the severability clause here creates an incentive for Lennar and other home builders to overreach, knowing that if the

---

<sup>11</sup> This Court’s ruling in *Huskins v. Mungo* is applicable here as an additional sustaining ground: “The court of appeals held the clause limiting the statute of limitations was both unconscionable and unenforceable. We believe the better view is that the clause is unenforceable because it is void and illegal as a matter of public policy. See *White v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co.*, 360 S.C. 366, 371–72, 601 S.E.2d 342, 345 (2004) (contracts violating public policy expressed in statutory law are unenforceable). Because it is unenforceable, we need not decide whether it is also unconscionable. . . .” Op. 28245, p. 3.

contract is found unconscionable, a narrower version will be substituted and enforced against an innocent, inexperienced homebuyer.

879 S.E.2d at 751, 760–761. Space does not permit us to quote the Court’s thorough reasoning in its entirety, but the same potential for abuse and over-reach is present in the massive Palmetto Bluff development of 4,000 homes.

This conclusion is further supported by this Court’s recent ruling in *Huskins v. Mungo Homes*, which involved the sale of a house:

The whole point of an arbitration provision is to provide an alternative way to resolve disputes in a fair and efficient manner. Yet Mungo designed its arbitration provision not to streamline the resolution of disputes but to reduce their number. One sure way to reduce the number of disputes is to shrink the time in which they may ordinarily be brought under applicable law. We conclude Mungo’s manipulative skirting of South Carolina public policy goes to the core of the arbitration agreement and weighs heavily against severance.

Op. 28245, p. 4. As with *Damico*, space does not permit us to quote the Court’s thorough reasoning in its entirety. But the conclusion as to developer Mungo Homes is applicable to this Developer as well. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to rewrite the contract, and this Court should deny the Petition asking this Court to do so.

**V. “There is, however, no public policy – federal or state – ‘favoring’ arbitration.”**

Finally, Developer argues that public policy “favors” arbitration and therefore this Court should grant the Petition to emphasize that point. Homeowners respectfully submit that this Court already has thoroughly researched and clearly and thoughtfully spoken on this subject:

[W]hen considered in the proper context, our statements that the law “favors” arbitration mean simply that courts must respect and enforce a contractual provision to arbitrate as it respects and enforces all contractual provisions. **There is, however, no public policy – federal or state – “favoring” arbitration.**

*Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 856 S.E.2d 150 ( 2021) (emphasis added). Here, it is undisputed that none of the 21 Respondents have a signed arbitration agreement with 11 of the Petitioners. It is not seriously disputed that the arbitration clause between one Petitioner (the Club) and seven Respondents has blatantly unlawful terms such as limitation of remedies and a 60-day statute of limitations (*inter alia*). As to the Petition’s rhetoric on denigration of the right to contract, Respondents would respectfully submit that Petitioners failed to produce a lawful arbitration contract between each Petitioner and each Respondent that actually has each party’s signature on it, instead contending that hidden and buried provisions, ostensibly incorporated by reference within *thousands* of pages of development documents, all of which can be – and frequently are – unilaterally changed by Developers alone, were nonetheless “automatic” and binding “upon acceptance of a deed.” These facts significantly diminish their position that Homeowners contracted “with their eyes wide open.”

There is no public policy favoring arbitration, and certainly not one that would compel arbitration in the utter absence of any agreement to do so. Homeowners respectfully request that this Court deny the Developer’s Petition.

## CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.